THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Melody L. James, Commissioner
Mike Campbell, Commissioner
Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr., Commissioner

RECEIVED

MAR 31 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Trial Court Case No. 1215107
Appellate Case No. 2016-002416


Randy Faulkenberry, Employee, Claimant, Respondent,

v.

Conbraco Industries, Inc., Employer, and Great American
Alliance Insurance Company, Carrier, Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

March 31, 2017



E. Ros Huff, Jr., Esquire Bar # 2767
HUFF & HAPESHIS, LLC
Post Office Box 1935
7244 Woodrow Street
Irmo, South Carolina 29063
(803) 252-2232 telephone

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Commission err in finding as fact and concluding as a matter of law that the claimant sustained a compensable claim?
2. Did the Commission err in finding as fact and concluding as a matter of law that the claimant sustained an injury that aggravated multiple, dormant, pre-existing conditions to cause disability and the awarding of benefits?
3. Did the Commission err in finding as fact and concluding as a matter of law that the claimant is entitled to medical treatment, the error being that this is not supported by the preponderance of the evidence and is an error of law?
4. Did the Commission err in awarding temporary total disability compensation effective May 6, 2015 until, the error being that the substantial evidence does not support the order?
5. Did the Commission err in designating Dr. J. Kelby Hutchinson as the physician for the purposes of the claim, the error being that this is not supported by the preponderance of the evidence and is an error of law?
6. Is the Commission's Order defective, improper and not enforceable because the Conclusions of Law are not separately stated or support by the preponderance of the evidence?
7. Is the Commission's Order defective, improper and not enforceable because there is not a specific or direct Order after Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law? The appellant/defendant states that there must be a statement as to what is ordered.
8. That Conclusion of Law No. 3 is stated a Finding of Fact with no reference or cite to a controlling code section of the SC Workers Compensation Act.
9. Is the Commission's Order defective, improper and not enforceable because it fails to SEPERATELY state each individual finding of Fact and Conclusions of Law and does not have a specific ORDER? The multiple subsections set forth, violate the SC Workers Compensation Act and The APA regarding separately stating each finding of fact and conclusion of law.
10. Is the Commission's Order defective, improper and not enforceable on the grounds that there is no separate statement of evidence of case to support findings of fact and conclusion of Order?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 19, 2012, Claimant, Randy Faulkenberry, contends that he sustained a compensable back injury when he slipped on oil. Claimant initially claimed an injury to the groin only, but then alleged an injury to his back. At the hearing, the claimant dropped his claim for any treatment or payment for benefits related to the groin injury. Defendants denied the claim on

the basis that the accident was unwitnessed and could not have occurred in the way that he claims and the claimant's back problems were not causally related to the injury.

By Form 50 dated May 6, 2015, Mr. Faulkenberry sought: (a) a determination he had sustained a compensable back injury on June 19, 2012; (b) satisfaction of previously incurred/causally related medical expenses, as well as additional causally related medical care for the consequences of this back injury; (c) Commission designation of an appropriate treating physician; and (d) accrued/continuing temporary total disability compensation.

The Defendants denied on the grounds the claimant did not complain about any back problems until months after the incident. Defendants also contend that this is an unwitnessed accident and the claimant has numerous stories of how the accident occurred are unreliable. Further, Defendants contend that he suffered no injury as his problems with his back are the same as they were prior to the date of this incident.

A hearing was held on October 28, 2015 in Columbia, South Carolina. After the hearing, the Commissioner issued an order on May 24, 2016 finding the claim compensable.

EVIDENCE OF THE CASE

Mr. Faulkenberry, is a 63 year old high school graduate, who worked as a general factory laborer for Conbraco Industries, Inc., where he had been employed for approximately 3.5 years.

The claimant initially contends that he hurt his groin on June 19, 2012 when he slipped and fell in oil. He had surgery for the groin/hernia and later filed a claim to add an alleged back component. Ultimately, at the hearing, the request for benefits for the groin/hernia were dropped and the only claim brought was for the back.

The claimant contends has a pre-existing back problem of stenosis that he contends was aggravated by the injury. The claimant visited doctors numerous times after the accident without mentioning a back problem. On August 28, 2012, just two months after the accident, the claimant had no back pain and no swelling when he visited his family doctor (Dr. Afulukwe). The neurologist in 2015 stated that there is no evidence of an acute injury on the claimant's MRI and that he had lumbar spinal stenosis and degenerative changes that required years to develop. Therefore, the accident couldn't have cause or aggravated the back problems. Moreover, even if the claimant mentioned any back issues, it was with relation to the problems with the groin.

The Defendants were given multiple versions of mechanics of the accident, such that his credibility cannot be maintained and that the claimants initial complaints only involved the groin and for months after the alleged hernia/groin injury, the claimant did not mention the back. **Even Dr. Johnson, who relates the back injury didn't know the mechanics of the accident.**

Steve Kirchin testified for the defendants. He is the human resources and safety manager at Conbraco and has worked there for 36 years. Mr. Kirchin investigated the accident site after the accident was reported to him by claimant's supervisor. He did not talk with the claimant initially, but they did talk later when he came back in, they talked about light duty. The claimant reported to Steve that he was cleaning up the coolant; he stepped over the fan; his foot slipped out from under him and he fell on the fan, straddled the fan. The claimant never mentioned a back injury to Steve Kirchin but only a groin injury. At the hearing, the claimant contends that he injured himself in 2012 when he was instructed to clean up a coolant spill. The claimant testified that he was sucking up the coolant with a shop vac as some of the coolant had flowed to an inaccessible portion of the floor ("a caged-in area around the machine"; "inside the cage that's around the motors and stuff on the machine"), he "couldn't reach it . . . just standing on the ground" (See, Hearing Transcript, pp. 27 – 28, 34). The claimant then testified that he took his

foot and set it up on the side of the machine, and pull . . . [him]self-up there so [he] . . . could lean over and get down in there and get it out with the wand” (See, Hearing Transcript, p. 28). After placing his right foot on the side of the machine and using a nearby pipe to “pull . . . myself up . . . so I could get my body and my wand up to reach over, . . . [this] foot . . . [, which had previously] been in coolant[,] . . . shot out from under” him. (See, Hearing Transcript, pp. 28 and 32). He then stated that he went airborne, coming down with the fan between his legs and the fan shot out from under him. The claimant visited the doctor several times after the incident and did not mention any back problems until his doctor’s visit on June 28, 2012. At that time, he only admitted to back pain and did not say anything about the fall causing the same. The claimant has an MRI performed. In a visit after the appointment on September 4, 2012, he didn’t even complain of back problems. Several MRI’s were taken of the claimants back and the MRI’s revealed the same stenosis that the claimant was experiencing in 2006.

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The Commission erred in finding that the claimant suffered an injury to his lower back when this finding is not supported by the evidence.**
(Questions Presented 1-4)

The claimant has the burden of proving his entitlement to benefits by the greater weight of the evidence. Hill v. Jones, 255 S.C. 219, 178 S.E.2d 142 (1970). In deciding whether substantial evidence supports a finding of causation, it is appropriate to consider both the lay and expert evidence. Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc., 336 S.C. 154 (S.C. 1999).

The lay evidence in the form of the Claimant’s testimony does not support an injury by accident to the claimant’s back. This is an unwitnessed accident. As evidenced by the claimant’s own medical records and the testimony of Steve Kirchen, the claimant did not mention back pain until months after this alleged injury. The claimant visited a doctor three times after this dated injury for treatment specifically for the work accident and never mentions back pain or a work

related back injury and when he finally mentions back pain three months after the accident occurred he does not say that the work injury caused the back problems.

This injury occurred on June 19, 2012. He visited Dr. Afulukwe on June 28, 2012 and DENIED BACK PAIN. He again visits that doctor on August 28, 2012 and mentions a split on the stairs but **makes no mention of back pain**. On September 4, 2012, the claimant visits CHC urgent Care for his work related injury and **again does not mention back pain**. His first mention of back pain is to his urologist, Dr. Thomas Douglas on September 24, 2012. At that time, he simply states that he “has pain across beltline and into back.” **He does not mention that it was caused by a fall or his work injury**. In fact, Dr. Douglas specifically stated that he could not even relate the groin injury to the work incident as he already had a pre-existing groin problem.

The claimant tells no less than three versions of how the accident occurred which further draws into question whether this unwitnessed accident occurred. By Form 50 dated June 4, 2014 the claimant states that the accident occurred while he was stepping over a fan and he slipped on a wet surface.

He testified at the hearing that the accident occurred when he was positioned approximately four feet above the plant floor surface at the time of this slip, then fell, initially straddling a floor fan “between [his] . . . legs [making] the fan shoot out from under [him] . . . , causing [his] . . . butt to hit the ground, and the back of [his] . . . head . . . [to strike] against the machine.” (See, Hearing Transcript, pp. 28, 29, 31, 56 – 57). At CHC on September 4, 2012, the claimant stated that the injury occurred when he attempted to put his right leg over a fan and his right leg slipped. Pt landed on the fan and hit his groin and testicular area.

At the deposition, he stated that: his foot slipped while he was moving ...and he fell off the machine; groin went directly on top of fan, it turned it over and he remembers something bumping his head; then, when he hit the floor on his tailbone, it threw him back up against the

machine. Even the doctor who relates the back injury to the claim was not sure of how the accident occurred. Defendants contend that based upon the lapse in time of any mention of a back injury and the numerous accounts of how the accident occurred, that the claimant did not have a work related accident.

Even if the claimant had an accident, he did not suffer any injury. The claimant initially contended that he hurt his groin during a fall, but failed to mention any problems with his back. The claimant has had back pain for numerous years preceding this claim.

On December 8, 2005, the claimant visited Springs Memorial Hospital and gave a history of both degenerative Joint disease and back pain.

On November 12, 2010, the claimant visited Heath Springs Memorial and reported body aches and multi-level joint pain because his job is manual.

On March 11, 2011, the claimant again visits Heath Springs Memorial and tells the doctor that he does not think that he can keep working at this rate.

On August 26, 2011, he states that he has fatigue and pain all over this body all of the time, is miserable and cannot wait to retire. Before the claimant even had this alleged injury with this employer, the claimant was already contemplating retirement for pain all over his body and he has prior back pain. In fact, the problems that the claimant is having now are the same problems that he had before. On July 6, 2006, the claimant visited Carolinas Health care System after sustaining a fall. During that visit, a CT of the Lumbar Spine was performed and it revealed an annular bulge and moderate central stenosis at L3-4. Moderate to severe central stenosis at L4-5.

The claimant sees Dr. Johnson for an IME on February 20, 2013, nearly nine months after the accident. While Dr. Johnson mentions the claimant's back pain, and relates the

problems to the claimant's back injury, he states that the claimant has no history of prior back pain.

The MRI taken of the claimant on March 7, 2013 may be the most telling of the medical evidence. The impression states that there is "no evidence of trauma." It again mentions the stenosis that is present in the claimant's 2006 MRI and the diagnosis is multilevel degenerative disc disease and arthritis.

The MRI performed on May 27, 2015 confirms that the claimant was having a degenerative issue only with his back. Therefore, even if the claimant was having back issues, it was from a degenerative change. The claimant was not forthcoming to Dr. Sanjay Nandurkar on April 22, 2013. At that visit, the claimant complained of chronic back pain that began after his fall but denies any back problems before then.

After he was referred to general surgery of Lancaster for his groin problem on December 6, 2012, the doctor's impression is that the claimant has "back pain secondary to osteoarthritis." Again, there is no mention of a back related workers compensation injury and again the doctor opines that the back pain is degenerative. The Surgery Center of Lancaster performed an MRI of the lumbar spine on April 9, 2013. At that time, he was diagnosed with spinal stenosis at the L4-5 area with scoliosis and spinal stenosis. However, the note specifically stated that he does not agree that the sole cause of the problem was from an injury at work.

The IME's of Dr. Gunter and Dr. Riber's causally related statement are void because they relate the back problems. Because the groin injury has not been found work related, the commissioner should not have relied on the opinions of those two doctors. Dr. Riber did not even see the claimant until two and ½ years after the accident and he based his evaluation on the basis that the claimant fell directly onto the fan. This description of the accident is different than several of the other version of how the fall occurred. For example, the claimant told Dr. Johnson

that he was “stepping over a standing fan, his foot slipped resulting in a split which mashed his groin and turned the fan over”. The description provided to Dr. Gunter was: “there was a coolant spill and he fell 4-6 feet landing on the cover of a fan....landing centered on his scrotum and testicles.....the fan slipped out of the way and he went backwards falling another 2-3 feet landing directly on his tailbone onto the concrete floor and then his head hit the machine”.

The Commissioner also erred in awarding temporary total disability benefits because the claimant cannot prove a loss of earning capacity. The claimant was written out of work and on disability for unrelated issues (COPD) as of June 17, 2014. Therefore, he cannot prove loss of earning capacity as a result of this injury.

2. The Commission erred in determining that the treating physician is Dr. Kelby Hutchinson

(Question Presented 5)

The Workers Compensation Commission committed an error of law when they appointed Southeastern Spine Institute as the authorized treating facility. There was no basis for this appointment and this was error because this is not a situation under 42-15-60(a), that calls for the Commission to appoint a treating physician because this is a denied case:

- (a) The employer shall provide medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment, including medical and surgical supplies as reasonably may be required, for a period not exceeding ten weeks from the date of an injury, to effect a cure or give relief and for an additional time as in the judgment of the commission will tend to lessen the period of disability as evidenced by expert medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. In addition to it, the original artificial members as reasonably may be necessary must be provided by the employer. During any period of disability resulting from the injury, the employer, at his own option, may continue to furnish or cause to be furnished, free of charge to the employee, and the employee shall accept, an attending physician and any medical care or treatment that is considered necessary by the attending physician, unless otherwise ordered by the commission for good cause shown. The refusal of an employee to accept any medical, hospital, surgical, or other treatment or evaluation when provided by the employer or ordered by the commission bars the employee from further compensation until the refusal ceases and compensation is not paid for the period of refusal unless in the opinion of the commission the circumstances justified the refusal, in which case the commission may order a change in the medical or hospital service. **If in an emergency, on account of the employer's failure to provide the medical care as specified in this section, a physician other than provided by the employer is called to treat the employee, the reasonable cost of the service must be paid by the employer, if ordered by the commission.**

The Employer did not fail to provide medical care as specified in this section because they were not obligated to do so under the statute. Therefore, there is no reason for the commission to order treatment by a specific physician. Pursuant to McKinney v. Kimberly Clark Corp., 658 S.E.2d 112 (App. 2008), the defendants have the right to choose the physician. Therefore, the Commission committed an error of law in appointing a physician in this instance for treatment.

3. The Commission's order is defective, improper and not enforceable because of numerous deficiencies.

(Questions Presented 6-10)

Defendants contend that the order of the Hearing Commissioner is deficient and does not comply with the SC Workers Compensation Statute and the Administrative Procedures Act in the following respects: 1. the Conclusions of Law are not separately stated or supported by the preponderance of the evidence; 2. there is not a specific or direct Order after the Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law as to what is being ordered; 3. that no statutory authority is stated for conclusion of law #3; and 4. because it fails to SEPERATELY state each individual finding of Fact and Conclusions of Law and does not have a specific ORDER.