**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION**

**Melody L. James, Commissioner
Mike Campbell, Commissioner
Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr., Commissioner**

W.C.C. FILE NO.: 1215107

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2016-002416

Randy Faulkenberry, Employee, ClaimantRESPONDENT.

v.

**Conbraco Industries, Inc., Employer, and Great American Alliance Insurance Company,
Carrier, AppellantsAPPELLANTS.**

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAY 31 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Andrew N. Safran
Post Office Box 12089
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 256-6689

Attorney for Respondents

May 31, 2017
Columbia, South Carolina

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1) Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission (Appellate Panel) correctly find Mr. Faulkenberry sustained a compensable back injury within the meaning of S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-1-160 (2015) while performing his job duties for Conbraco Industries, Inc. on June 19, 2012?

2) Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission (Appellate Panel) properly exercise the discretion afforded by S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-15-60 (2015) in determining: (a) Appellants' attempted designation of a neurosurgeon as Mr. Faulkenberry's treating physician was inconsistent with his needs for non-operative care; and (b) the current circumstances established "good cause" per this statute to designate Dr. J. Kelby Hutcheson as Mr. Faulkenberry's treating physician?

3) Does the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission's (Appellate Panel's) November 1, 2016 order fully comply with the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-17-40 (2015) and S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-350 (2005)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the November 1, 2016 Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission (Appellate Panel) which determined: (a) Respondent, Randy Faulkenberry, had sustained a compensable back injury on June 19, 2012 while performing his job duties for Appellant, Conbraco Industries, Inc.; (b) he has not yet reached maximum medical improvement and requires further treatment for the consequences of this injury in accordance with the recommendations of several evaluating physicians; (c) the current circumstances established "good cause" per Section 42-15-60 to designate Dr. J. Kelby Hutcheson as Mr. Faulkenberry's authorized treater for the purposes of this claim; (d) Conbraco Industries, Inc. and co-Appellant, Great American Insurance Company, Inc. were obliged to satisfy the causally related medical expenses incurred during the period they had denied liability for Mr. Faulkenberry's injury; and (e) he was entitled to receive continued/ongoing temporary total disability compensation effective May 6, 2015.

Essentially, Appellants contend the Commission/Appellate Panel erroneously: (a) found Mr. Faulkenberry had sustained a compensable back injury on June 19, 2012, despite his contemporaneous report of a fall, consistent description of essential elements of this trauma and repeated references to symptoms that three medical specialists have causally related to the consequences of this documented accident; (b) designated Dr. Hutcheson as Mr. Faulkenberry's authorized treater, notwithstanding their consistent denial of liability for medical care, as well as their effort to circumvent a concomitant ruling recognizing his need for non-operative treatment by attempting to direct him for further surgical assessment; and (c) transmitted its rulings through

a “defective” order, maintaining that neither the exhaustive factual findings nor the ample legal conclusions contained in its order satisfied applicable statutory standards.

However, an analysis of the evidence of record, in light of the controlling legal authorities, reveals: (a) the Commission/Appellate Panel correctly found Mr. Faulkenberry had experienced a compensable back injury on June 19, 2012; (b) its designation of Dr. Hutcheson as Mr. Faulkenberry’s treating physician was clearly appropriate under the present circumstances; (c) the content of the November 1, 2016 order satisfies all applicable criteria; and (d) the Commission’s/Appellate Panel’s order should be affirmed in its entirety.

On June 19, 2012, Mr. Faulkenberry sustained a compensable back injury while in the process of cleaning up a coolant spill in the water meter department located on the floor of Conbraco Industries, Inc.'s Chesterfield County, South Carolina facility. Specifically, he: (a) was informed of a coolant spill in this department by his supervisor, who instructed him "to get it cleaned up" (See, Record on Appeal, p. __); (b) then proceeded to the site of the spill, which was located in an area of the plant he referred to as "the floor" (See, Record on Appeal, p. __); (c) discovered this "coolant was everywhere, all out in the aisles, under the machines . . . [and] inside . . . a caged-in area around the machine" (See, Record on Appeal, p. __); and (d) began "sucking . . . up" the coolant with a "shop-vac" from a standing position (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __).

As some of the coolant had flowed to an inaccessible portion of the floor (“a caged-in area around the machine”; “inside the cage that’s around the motors and stuff on the machine”), he “couldn’t reach it . . . just standing on the ground” (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __). In view of this fact, Mr. Faulkenberry determined “the only logical way . . . to get it up was . . . [to take

his] foot and set it up on the side of the machine, and pull . . . [him]self up there so [he] . . . could lean over and get down in there and get it out with the wand” (See, Record on Appeal, p. ____). After placing his right foot on the side of the machine and using a nearby pipe to “pull . . . myself up . . . so I could get my body and my wand up to reach over, . . . [this] foot . . . [, which had previously] been in coolant[,] . . . shot out from under” him. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____). Mr. Faulkenberry, who was positioned approximately four feet above the plant floor surface at the time of this slip, then fell, initially straddling a floor fan “between [his] . . . legs [making] the fan shoot out from under [him] . . . , causing [his] . . . butt to hit the ground, and the back of [his] . . . head . . . [to strike] against the machine.” (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____).

While this fall gave rise to feelings of “embarrassment” and “shock”, it did not immediately produce pain. (See, Record on Appeal, p. ____). However, Mr. Faulkenberry nonetheless “went straight to [his] . . . fill-in supervisor” (Jeff Gleaton) and informed him of the accident. Inspection of a “summary of communications” form generated by Conbraco Industries, Inc. reflects a June 19, 2012 entry that states, “Randy told me he fell in the back and hit his groin”. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____).

In this connection, Mr. Steve Kirchen, Conbraco’s Human Resource and Safety Manager, acknowledged: (a) his understanding Mr. Faulkenberry’s injury occurred when “. . . his foot slipped out from under him . . . [as] he stepped over the fan . . . [while] he was cleaning up the coolant”; and (b) Mr. Faulkenberry “fell on the fan, straddled the fan” after his foot slipped in this fashion. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____)

On the following morning, Mr. Faulkenberry “could barely go, and . . . was hurting in [his] . . . groin and around [his] . . . left - - up into the side of [his] back”, but nonetheless went

to work. (See, Record on Appeal, p. ____). Upon arriving, he located his immediate supervisor, who he then advised of the prior day's fall, the subsequent onset of pain and his need to see a doctor. (Id.). In response to this request for treatment, he was told, "ah, go on out there . . . [,] I'll get you some help." (See, Record on Appeal, p. ____).

Although he continued to report for work, Mr. Faulkenberry remained symptomatic, to the extent he advised his family physician (Dr. Ifediora F. Afulukwe) of this fall and associated symptoms during a June 28, 2012 "90 day checkup". (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____). A review of this physician's report confirms Mr. Faulkenberry: (a) informed Dr. Afulukwe as to the presence of "sharp", "worsening" back pain "radiating to the buttocks"; (b) told him of a "fall on the job recently . . . [involving his doing] a split"; (c) indicated he was "very sore" in the "upper inner thigh . . . [areas] bilaterally . . . [,] more on the L side"; (d) exhibited musculoskeletal "tenderness", as well as an "irregular gait"; and (e) received "a muscle relaxer and an anti[i]nflammatory" in conjunction with a one week work excuse." (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____).

When Mr. Faulkenberry resumed work activities on July 9, 2012, he was: (a) "informed . . . [by his] boss man . . . to take it easy"; (b) instructed "not to be shoveling out the machines"; and (c) provided with some assistance (from a summer employee). (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____). In this regard, a July 9, 2012 entry on the "Summary of Communications" form reflects:

I talked to Steve Kirchen and he said that Randy needs to take it easy for a while and see if the hurt when he pulled his groin goes away - - if not he will be sent to the Dr. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____).

As he continued to experience symptoms, Mr. Faulkenberry again approached his supervisor for assistance in obtaining treatment for the June 19, 2012 trauma. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____). This request eventually prompted the August 29, 2012 completion of accident/injury report forms by both he and the plant manager. The “Report of Accident Investigation” form, which (by its terms) “is to be completed by the foreman or supervisor of the injured employee”, specifically notes: (a) **Mr. Faulkenberry was injured while “cleaning up coolant spill with shop-vac”**; (b) **“his foot slipped causing his legs to split and He straddle the fan” while in the process of “step[ping] . . . over [the] . . . fan”**; and (c) **the “fan turned over and both ended up on the floor”**. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____). The employee injury report completed by Mr. Faulkenberry is not only consistent with this data, but also his hearing testimony. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____).

On September 4, 2012, Mr. Faulkenberry was directed by Defendants to CHC Urgent Care – Monroe, where he was assessed by a physician assistant, who: (a) was apprised of the material circumstances surrounding his June 19, 2012 injury (**“pt states coolant on floor he was cleaning it up. He attempted to put his right leg over a fan. And his right leg slipped. Patient landed on the fan and hit his groin and testicular area.”**); (b) focused the examination on these groin symptoms; and (c) recommended obtaining an ultrasound in conjunction with a urological referral. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ____).

Approximately three weeks later (September 24, 2012), Mr. Faulkenberry was directed by Defendants to Dr. Thomas H. Douglas of Carolina Urology Partners, who: (a) was apprised of persistent groin pain (**“a toothache between my legs”**), as well as **“pain across beltline and into back, [l]eft . . . worse than right”**; (b) learned this **“pain started after a fall at work (did a split)**

in June, 2012”; (c) recommended referral to a general surgeon for hernia repair. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __).

After this evaluation, Mr. Faulkenberry met with the Appellants’ adjuster, who informed him they were denying his workers’ compensation claim. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __). In view of this fact, Mr. Faulkenberry was obliged to independently seek treatment from Dr. George David, a Lancaster, South Carolina general surgeon. Inspection of Dr. David’s initial (December 6, 2012) report confirms: (a) a history of injury consistent with previously generated records (**foot slipping while crossing a barrier, resulting in trauma to his scrotum**); (b) reference to the previously diagnosed hernias, as well as the results of ultrasound testing performed at CMC-Union; (c) Mr. Faulkenberry’s development of **“some pain in the left leg and back”**; (d) **“back pain and left hip pain” in response to straight leg raise testing on the left**; and (e) his surgical recommendations. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __).

Dr. Davis’ December 21, 2012 report further indicates: (a) the previously-referenced **back symptoms had made it “somewhat difficult for him if . . . [not] impossible” to perform regular duty work activities for his employer**; (b) Mr. Faulkenberry voiced **“complain[ts] . . . of severe back pain”**; (c) clinical examination elicited **“pain on straight leg raising on the left leg for 45 degrees and flexion of the foot accentuates the pain”**; (d) this physician’s intention to refer Mr. Faulkenberry “to an orthopedic physician sometime in the near future”; and (e) Dr. David’s determination to place him on out-of-work status. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __). This surgeon’s post-operative reports likewise reflect: (a) the **continued presence of back pain**; (b) reiteration of the need for **focused assessment of Mr. Faulkenberry’s lumbar symptoms**;

and (c) Mr. Faulkenberry's continued inability to resume pre-injury work activities. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __).

On February 20, 2013, Mr. Faulkenberry was independently evaluated by Dr. Donald R. Johnson, II of Southeastern Spine Institute, who noted: (a) his work accident involved **“stepping over a standing fan, his foot slipped, resulting in a split which mashed his groin and turned the fan over”**; (b) **“past back history [was] . . . negative”**; (c) he was **“tender particularly at the 5-1 level”**, while range of motion was **“somewhat limited secondary to pain”**; (d) “. . . [g]iven his history and diagnosis of back problems with Dr. David, . . . a lumbar MRI scan” was warranted; (e) he had not reached maximum medical improvement; and (f) it was **“most probable to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that his current back and radiating leg symptoms are related to his 6/1[9]/12 . . . work injury.”** (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __).

Upon reviewing the results of this March 7, 2013 scan, Dr. Johnson verified: (a) the presence of **“foraminal stenosis at multiple levels particularly bad at 4-5 on the left with some central stenosis at 2-3, 3-4 and 4-5”**; (b) **his belief surgical intervention was not required at that point**; (c) Mr. Faulkenberry **“would be a good candidate for a selective injection at 3-4 or 4-5 . . . [through] a pain management physician”**; and (d) maximum medical improvement had not been attained. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __).

Mr. Faulkenberry next underwent limited assessment by a local orthopaedist (Dr. Brian A. Blue), who was informed of **“constant sharp low back pain . . . [in the context of] a previous low back injury on 06/19/12”**, for which he recommended injections. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __). This recommendation prompted referral to Dr. Sanjay Nandurkar, who: (a) identified clinical abnormalities involving the lumbar spine, **which he attributed to a “work related fall”**

though aggravation of pre-existing stenosis; and (b) performed several lumbar epidural steroid injections that did not prove beneficial. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ___).

Mr. Faulkenberry was next evaluated (March 14, 2014) by Dr. Ezra B. Riber of Palmetto Pain Management, LLC, who: (a) was apprised his symptoms had **commenced in June, 2012 while “working in his usual capacity in maintenance for the Conbraco Machine Company when he fell awkwardly while cleaning up coolant from the floor with a shop vac [SIC]”;** (b) further noted “. . . [he] **describes doing a split and struck his private”;** (c) **referenced chief complaints of low back** and testicular pain; (d) identified limited lumbar range of motion with “flexion as well as returning upright and extension” and painful straight leg raise response (“back, gluteal and hamstring discomfort”) as prominent clinical findings; (e) offered several diagnoses, including both lumbar radicular and facet syndromes; and (f) felt he was “not at MMI from an interventional pain management standpoint”. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ___). Inspection of two additional reports (April 17, 2014 and December 18, 2014) generated by Dr. Riber’s practice during 2014 similarly reveals the presence of persistent lumbar symptoms with associated clinical abnormalities. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. ___).

Subsequently, per questionnaire responses dated July 13, 2015, Dr. Riber verified: (a) “Mr. Faulkenberry’s **mechanism of injury was sufficient to aggravate a preexisting, asymptomatic spinal stenosis condition”;** (b) “. . . [b]ased on Mr. Faulkenberry’s medical history, the temporal onset of symptoms (involving the groin, inner thighs/legs and back) and MRI findings, the **lumbar symptoms he has experienced in the aftermath of his June 19, 2012 trauma most probably result from the aggravation of preexisting spinal stenosis by the reported fall”;** (c) “the symptoms attributable to Mr. Faulkenberry’s June 19, 2012 work

related fall warrant further treatment, including **both interventional and medical pain management modalities**"; (d) "his receipt of these pain management modalities is reasonable, medically necessary and geared toward lessening the ultimate period of disability produced by the consequences of Mr. Faulkenberry's June 19, 2012 compensable accident"; and (e) the consequences of this "work related accident most probably prevent him from currently engaging in unrestricted employment activities" (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __)

Several months after his final visit with Dr. Riber, Mr. Faulkenberry was reevaluated (May 12, 2015) by Dr. Johnson, who: (a) noted he "continued to be symptomatic, despite receipt of the epidural steroid injections"; (b) detected not only the previously documented motion deficits, but also lumbar tenderness and buttocks pain in response to straight leg raise testing; (c) perceived he was walking in a slightly flexed position ("forward at 20 degrees"), "has more pain on extension than flexion" and developed "pain that radiates through the buttocks and down both legs posteriorly . . . [w]ith forced extension"; and (d) recommended obtaining an updated lumbar MRI scan, while reiterating maximum medical improvement had not been achieved. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. __).

In conjunction with undergoing this updated MRI scan, Mr. Faulkenberry was evaluated by Dr. Brett C. Gunter of Columbia Neurosurgical Associates, P.A. (May 27, 2015), who: (a) obtained a **history of pain following "an on the job injury 6/19/2012"**; (b) learned the **injury occurred while he was in the process of "cleaning . . . a coolant spill"**; (c) described the injury mechanism as **falling "4 – 6 feet landing on a large fan that was running and landed on the cover of the fan . . . centered on his scrotum and testicles . . . [, eventually] landing directly on his tailbone onto the concrete floor . . . [when] the fan slipped out of the way"**; (d)

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